NO. 44325-2-II -II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS ROMAN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

The Honorable Richard Brosey, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where Appellant Thomas Roman was charged with assault in the second degree, the trial court erred by not instructing the jury on the inferior degree or lesser included offense of assault in the fourth degree.

2. Mr. Roman was deprived of his Article 1, §9 and Fifth Amendment rights and his state and federal due process rights when the prosecutor elicited testimony from the arresting officer that commented on Mr. Roman's post-arrest silence.

3. Mr. Roman's attorney provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to testimony that improperly commented on his constitutional right to remain silent.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The State charged Mr. Roman with assault in the second degree, alleging that he strangled his wife, Angela Roman. Mr. Roman offered an instruction for fourth degree assault as an inferior degree or lesser included offense. The trial court declined to give the proposed instruction. Did the trial court err in not giving the requested jury instruction? Assignment of Error 1. 2. Did the arresting officer's testimony regarding Mr. Roman's failure to talk to police and failure to cooperate violate Mr. Roman's his state and federal due process rights? Assignment of Error 2.

3. Whether Mr. Roman was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to object to testimony that improperly commented on his constitutional right to remain silent? Assignment of Error 3.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural history:</u>

The Lewis County Prosecutor's Office charged Thomas Roman with Assault in the Second Degree by Strangulation, contrary to RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g). Clerk's Papers at 1-3. The State filed an amended information adding a second aggravating factor that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim's minor child. CP 5.

No pre-trial motions were filed nor heard regarding either a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6 hearing.

Mr. Roman was tried by a jury on November 15, 2012, the Honorable Richard Brosey presiding. Report of Proceedings 1RP at 3-156, 2RP at 160-299.¹ A jury convicted him of the second degree assault by strangulation as

¹The record of proceedings consists of two volumes:

¹RP (November 15, 2012), Trial Day One; and 2RP (November 16, 2012), Trial Day Two, (November 30, 2012), sentencing, (December 6, 2012), entry of Judgment and Sentence.

charged. 2RP at 294. Jurors answered "yes" on special verdict forms asking whether the two aggravating circumstances had been proved. CP 66, 67.

Mr. Roman's standard range sentence was 3 three to 9 months. CP 83. Based on both aggravating circumstances, the court imposed three months of the standard range sentence and three months based upon the aggravating factors, for a total sentence of 6 months. 2RP at 309; CP 83.

Timely notice of appeal was filed December 18, 2012. CP 91. This appeal follows

2. <u>Testimony at trial:</u>

Angela Roman and Thomas Roman were married in 2008 and have a three year old son. 1RP at 107, 108, 2RP at 193. Mr. Roman, who is 47, works at the Port of Seattle. 2RP at 163. They lived in several locations in King County, and separated in 2010. 1RP at 109. They resumed talking with each other after filing for dissolution, and she moved back in the Mr. Roman in Lynnwood, Washington in August, 2012. 1RP at 110.

On September 30, 2012, they took a trip to Lewis County using a rental car to ride on a steam train that leaves Chehalis and travels east and then returns to Chehalis. 1RP at 112, 2RP at 165. Mr. Roman had bought Bud Light beer for the trip and Ms. Roman had bought wine. 1RP at 114,

116, 2RP at 167. After riding the steam train, they drove north on Interstate 5 from Chehalis in order to go to the Great Wolf Lodge near Grand Mound, Washington. 1RP at 118. They went to an AM PM convenience store near the Great Wolf Lodge, north of Centralia, where Mr. Roman bought a Mikes Hard Lemonade and a beer, and then were planning on seeing what activities were offered at the Great Wolf Lodge. 2RP at 169. Ms. Roman was driving the car. Instead of going to the Great Wolf Lodge, she made a wrong turn and they got back on southbound Interstate 5 and drove to the next off ramp, and then exited the interstate in Centralia. 1RP at 119, 2RP at 172. They were arguing and she stopped the car in the roadway and took their son and got out of the car. 1RP at 120, 2RP at 174. Mr. Roman testified that he parked the car and was looking for a second set of keys to the rental car. 2RP at 174. Ms. Roman returned with their son and then tried to grab the keys that he was holding. 2RP at 179. He stated that he did not want her to have the keys because she had been drinking. 2RP at 180. He testified that she tried to take the keys from him a second time and he stiff armed her in the chest, but denied punching or hitting her. 2RP at 180, 223. He had put keys and his cell phone in the pocket of his swim trunks, and their fingers were interlocked around a set of keys. 2RP at 182. She would not let go of the keys and so he bit her arm in order to make her let go. 2RP at 183. He denied that he broke the skin and said that he did not intend to injure her. 2RP at 184. She continued to try to get the keys and was in a crouched position. 2RP at 186. He put his shoulder against hers and pushed her onto her rear. 2RP at 187. He denied choking her. 2RP at 213, 214.

Ms. Roman testified that while they were arguing in traffic in Centralia he tried to take the keys out of the ignition, and she got out of the car with their son and walked to the parking lot of a nearby restaurant. Several minutes later she saw that their rental car was now parked across the street. 1RP at 120. She stated that Mr. Roman was throwing things around in the car and on the ground, and that she wanted to get the keys to the car because she was afraid that he would drive away without her. 1RP at 121, 126. She stated that she tried to get the car keys and that he bit her and punched her in the chest. 1RP at 126, 127. She stated she was knocked to the ground, got up and was "seeing stars" and felt as if she was going to black out. 1RP at 127. She stated that she could not turn her neck and that it hurt to swallow, but did not testify that she had been strangled or suffocated and did not remember telling police or medical personnel that. 1RP at 135, 140.

While on patrol in Centralia on September 30, 2012, police officer Derek Makein heard a woman screaming. 1RP at 58. He parked his patrol car and saw a woman who appeared to be hysterical and was crying standing near the front passenger side of a red car. 1RP at 60, 65. The woman, identified as Angela Roman, said that her husband had assaulted her and bit her. 1RP at 60. Her husband, Thomas Roman, was near the rear of the car holding a child. 1RP at 60, 66. Officer Makein testified that Angela Roman told him that she and her husband were arguing and she decided to get out of the car. 1RP at 83. She later saw him in the parking lot of a nearby bank and went there to retrieve some of her possessions. 1RP at 83. She reached to get either her keys or her phone out of his pocket and she said that he grabbed her left arm and bit it, and then was punched in the chest several times. 1RP at 83, 84. He also testified, pursuant to the excited utterance exception, that she told him that her husband came from behind her and put his arm around her neck and squeezed it. 1RP at 85. She told the officer she was having a hard time breathing and that her throat hurt. 1RP at 86.

Ms. Roman was subsequently taken to the emergency room at Providence Hospital in Centralia. 1RP at 95.

Officer Makein stated that he smelled the odor of intoxicants when he made contact with Mr. Roman. 1RP at 73. He stated that Mr. Roman was not cooperative and asked "are you profiling me because I'm a guy." 1RP at 74. The officer testified that "it was clear that he wasn't going to cooperate" and that he "really wasn't going to really do anything to assist with the

investigation or provide information that we need." 1RP at 74. After placing Mr. Roman under arrest, Officer Makein administered his constitutional warnings and stated that "[h]e clammed up, said I want my attorney. I don't want to talk to you." 1RP at 73.

Gary Bilodeau, a physician's assistant at the emergency room at Providence Hospital in Centralia, examined Angela Roman following the incident. 1RP at 37, 38. She had a bite mark on her left wrist and complained of neck pain and difficulty swallowing. 1RP at 43, 44. She was subsequently sent to radiology for a CT scan. Mr. Bilodeau received a report from Dr. Peter Hu, a radiologist, that Ms. Roman had a thyroid cartilage fracture and soft tissue edema in her neck. 1RP at 44, 45, 46.

D. ARGUMENT

. . .

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE OFFENSE OF ASSAULT IN THE FOURTH DEGREE, REQUIRING REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION.

Mr. Roman was charged with assault in the second degree under

RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g). CP 4. This statute provides in pertinent part:

(1) A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree:

7

(g) Assaults another by strangulation or suffocation.

The defense also proposed an instruction allowing the jury to consider the inferior degree or lesser offense of assault in the fourth degree. CP 37. RCW 9A.36.041(1) provides that "A person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree if, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first, second, or third degree, or custodial assault, he or she assaults another." WPIC 35.50 defines assault:

An assault is an intentional touching or striking of another person, with unlawful force, that is harmful or offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person. A touching or striking is offensive if the touching or striking would offend an ordinary person who is not unduly sensitive.

The trial court, however, did not give the instruction. 2RP at 236-244. The defense took exception to the court's failure to instruct the jury on the inferior degree or lesser included offense of assault in the fourth degree. 2RP at 247.

The jury should have been instructed regarding fourth degree assault as an inferior degree offense of second-degree assault. A defendant is entitled to a lesser included offense instruction when (1) each of the elements of the lesser included offense is a necessary element of the charged offense, and (2) the evidence supports an inference that the lesser crime was committed. *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 454, 6P.3d 1150 (2000) (citing *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978)). There must be some evidence showing that the defendant committed only the lesser included offense to the exclusion of the greater charged offense. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 456 (citations omitted). Although affirmative evidence must support the issuance of the instruction, such evidence need not be produced by the defendant. Rather, the trial court "must consider all of the evidence that is presented at trial when it is deciding whether or not an instruction should be given." *Id.* Finally, the appellate court is to view the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instructions. *Id.* at 455-56.

In *State v. Jimerson*, 27 Wn. App. 415, 618 P.2d 1027, review denied, 94 Wn.2d 1025 (1980), Jimerson was charged with first degree assault for attempting to run over police officers with his car. *Id.* at 417. The jury was given alternate instructions for second degree assault, but the trial court refused to instruct the jury regarding simple assault. *Id.* Jimerson was convicted of second degree assault. *Id.* Jimerson testified at trial that he merely intended to splash officers with slush, not run them over. *Id.* The appellate court held that the failure to instruct the jury on simple assault constituted prejudicial error. *Id.* at 420. Evidence was produced which would justify a reasonable person in concluding that the lesser offense had been committed, and it was up to the jury to determine the defendant's credibility. *Id*.

Similarly, in *State v. Norby*, 20 Wn. App. 378, 579 P.2d 1358 (1978), Norby was charged with second degree assault for knowingly inflicting grievous bodily harm upon another. The trial court's failure to instruct the jury on simple assault was error where the defense claimed diminished capacity based on intoxication. *Id*.at 381.

Here, the State presented evidence that Mr. Roman committed an intentional assault against his wife by strangling her. Strangulation is defined as compressing a person's neck, thereby obstructing the person's blood flow or ability to breathe, or doing so with intent to obstruct the person's blood flow or ability to breathe. CP 54 (Instruction 8). Fourth degree assault is defined as an assault of another that is not a first, second, or third degree assault or a custodial assault. RCW 9A.36.041. Thus, the elements of fourth degree assault are necessary elements of second degree assault by strangulation.

The facts support an inference that only the lesser included offense was committed. Ms. Roman did not remember if she was choked or strangled; she merely stated that she felt like she was going to black out and she "saw stars." 1RP at 134, 140. This, however, was in conjunction with her being hit (or "stiff armed," according to Mr. Roman's testimony) in the chest. 1RP at 135, 140. The jury was instructed that an assault is an intentional touching of another person that is harmful or offensive regardless of whether any physical injury is done to the person. CP 53 (Instruction 7).

Given Ms. Roman's testimony that she was bit on her arm and hit in the chest, but lack of testimony that she was strangled or choked, the jury likely would have reached a compromise verdict of fourth degree assault if it had the option to do so. Viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Roman, the evidence supported the inference that he was guilty of only fourth degree assault and not second degree assault. The jury, as fact-finders, should have been allowed to decide whether Mr. Roman committed second degree assault, or whether the a thyroid cartilage fracture described by Mr. Bilodeau were a result of the hit (or stiff arm) to her chest, for which Mr. Roman was not charged.

The jury should have been instructed regarding fourth degree assault as a lesser included offense of second-degree assault. RCW 10.61.006 provides that "the defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is necessarily included within that with which he is charged in the indictment or information." Where requested, a party is entitled to an

instruction on a lesser included offense where: (1) each element of the lesser offense must necessarily be proved to establish the greater offense as charged (legal prong); and (2) the evidence in the case supports an inference that only the lesser crime was committed (factual prong). *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 548, 947 P.2d 700 (1997); *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978).

The State had to prove that Mr. Roman committed an assault in order to establish the greater offense of second degree assault as charged under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g). A person cannot commit second degree assault under RCW 9A.36.021(1)(g) without also committing fourth degree assault. Thus, the requested assault fourth degree instruction satisfied the legal prong of the *Workman* test. See *State v. Bandura*, 85 Wn.App. 87, 96-97, 931 P.2d 174, rev. denied, 132 Wn.2d 1004, 939 P.2d 215 (1997) (where defendant was charged with second degree assault but convicted of fourth degree assault, his conviction was upheld on appeal because fourth degree assault is a lesser included offense of second degree assault).

The court's failure to instruct the jury on fourth-degree assault prejudiced Mr. Roman and requires reversal of his conviction. A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case if there is evidence to support that theory. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141

Wn.2d at 461-62; *State v. Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d 489, 495, 78 P.2d 1001 (2003). Since there was substantial evidence in the record which affirmatively raised the inference that Mr. Roman was guilty of only fourth degree assault and not second degree assault (*i.e.* Ms. Roman's failure to testify that she was strangled), the requested instruction should have been given. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d at 461-62. The failure of the trial court to give the requested instruction constitutes prejudicial error and requires reversal of the second degree assault conviction. *Id.* at 462; *Redmond*, 150 Wn.2d at 495; *State v. Williams*, 132 Wn.2d 248, 260, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997).

2. REVERSAL IS REQUIRED BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR REPEATEDLY ELICITED TESTIMONY REGARDING APPELLANT'S EXERCISE OF HIS RIGHTS TO REMAIN SILENT AND BE FREE FROM SELF-INCRIMINATION.

The privilege against self-incrimination, or the right to remain silent, is based upon the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments' prohibition against compelled self-incrimination. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966). "The purpose of the right is ... 'to spare the accused from having to reveal, directly or indirectly, his knowledge of facts relating him to the offense or having to share his thoughts and beliefs with the Government." *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 241, 922 P.2d 1285

(1996) (quoting *Doe v. United States*, 487 U.S. 201, 213, 108 S. Ct. 2341,
101 L. Ed. 2d 184 (1988)).

A defendant's constitutional right to silence applies in both pre- and post-arrest situations. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 243.

As a preliminary matter, this issue is properly before this Court. It is constitutional error for a police witness to testify that a defendant refused to speak to him or her. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 241. If a prosecutor elicits testimony infringing upon the defendant's exercise of his or her constitutional rights, that issue is a "claim of manifest constitutional error, which can be raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. Romero*, 113 Wn. App. 779, 786, 54 P.3d 1255 (2002) (citing *State v. Curtis*, 110 Wn. App. at 11); RAP 2.5(a). The State bears the burden of overcoming the presumption that a constitutional error is prejudicial. *State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 242.

In this case, the State elicited at trial the following impermissible testimony of Officer Makein regarding Mr. Roman's right to remain silent. Defense counsel did not object to the prosecutor's question or the officer's responses. 1RP at 73, 74. The officer stated:

I advised him he's under arrest for domestic violence assault, I read him Miranda. He clammed up, said I want my attorney. I don't want to talk to you[.]

1RP at 73.

The prosecutor subsequently asked:

Q: Describe for me when you first made contact with him how is his demeanor?

A: I would have to say defiant, probably the best word because after he made the statement, are you profiling me because I'm a guy? I tried to explain to him no. I'm just making sure everyone is safe, making sure I'm safe, but for him once he made that statement it was clear that he wasn't going to cooperate. He wasn't going to really do anything to assist with the investigation or provide information that we need. His demeanor was basically I was pissing him off, because I determined it was a crime that occurred against his wife and put him in custody.

1RP at 73-74.

The prosecutor also asked:

Q: After the defendant is taken into custody, what did you do?

A: Of course pat him down for weapons, put him in the backseat of my car, read him *Miranda*. He doesn't want to talk, so I left him in the car, continued my investigation to make sure that the victim gets medical treatment, have her evaluated and that's what I did.

1RP at 74-75.

In *Easter*, our Supreme Court held it is a violation of a defendant's right to silence for a police officer to testify that the defendant refused to talk to him or her. *Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 241. (defendant's "right to silence was violated by testimony he did not answer and looked away without speaking" when questioned by officer). Therefore, as is the case here, a direct comment on the right to remain silent is a constitutional error requiring a constitutional harmless error analysis. *Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 241. A constitutional harmless

error means the error is harmless only if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 575 (1989), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 89 L. Ed .2d 321, 106 S. Ct. 1208 (1986).

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