No. 44325-2-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

THOMAS ROMAN,

Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County

Respondent's Brief

JONATHAN L. MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

Ву:

SARA I. BEIGH, WSBA No. 35564 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

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

⁻

³ The State would note that if this instruction had been given as proposed by Roman's attorney it is likely that the State now would be answering an argument that the State did not elect which conduct constituted the Assault in the Fourth Degree and there was therefore, not a unanimous verdict.

touched in a manner that was harmful or offensive and not strangled; it simply means she cannot remember. RP 141-42.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it ruled Roman was not entitled to the lesser included instruction of Assault in the Fourth Degree. RP 239-43. The trial court articulated the correct analysis regarding why it would not give the inferior included offense instruction. See RP 239-43. Further, although the trial court did not use the magic words and state it was considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant, the omission does not make the ruling incorrect. Pannell v. Thompson, 91 Wn.2d 591, 603, 589 P.2d 1235 (1979) (citations omitted). This Court should affirm the trial court's ruling and Roman's conviction because he was not entitled to the lesser included instruction.

B. ROMAN CANNOT RAISE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THAT THE DEPUTY PROSECUTOR ALLEGEDLY COMMENTED ON HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT BECAUSE IT IS NOT A MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR.

Roman argues, for the first time on appeal, that the deputy prosecutor repeatedly elicited testimony regarding Roman's exercise of his right to silence. Brief of Appellant 13-17. Roman

⁴ When the ruling by the trial court is correct "it will not be reversed merely because the trial court gave wrong or insufficient reason for its rendition." *Pannell v. Thompson*, 91 Wn.2d at 603.

does not argue to this Court how he is able to raise this alleged error for the first time on appeal. See Brief of Appellant 13-17. The alleged error, while of constitutional magnitude, is not manifest. Therefore, Roman is precluded from raising this issue for the first time on appeal.

1. Standard Of Review

A claim of a manifest constitutional error is reviewed de novo. *State v. Edwards*, 169 Wn. App. 561, 566, 280 P.3d 1152 (2012).

2. Roman Did Not Object To The Questions Or The Testimony He Alleges Commented On Exercise Of His Right To Silence And Fails To Show This Court That The Alleged Error Is A Manifest Constitutional Error.

An appellate court generally will not consider an issue that a party raises for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The origins of this rule come from the principle that it is the obligation of trial counsel to seek a remedy for errors as they arise. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98. The exception to this rule is "when the claimed error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right." *Id., citing* RAP 2.5(a). There is a two part test in determining whether the assigned

error may be raised for the first time on appeal, "an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." *Id.* (*citations omitted*).

The reviewing court analyzes the alleged error and does not assume it is of constitutional magnitude. *Id.* The alleged error must be assessed to make a determination of whether a constitutional interest is implicated. *Id.* If an alleged error is found to be of constitutional magnitude the reviewing court must then determine whether the alleged error is manifest. *Id.* at 99; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. An error is manifest if the appellant can show actual prejudice. *O'Hara* 167 Wn.2d at 99. The appellant must show that the alleged error had an identifiable and practical consequence in the trial. *Id.* There must be a sufficient record for the reviewing court to determine the merits of the alleged error. *Id.* (citations omitted). No prejudice is shown if the necessary facts to adjudicate the alleged error are not part of the record on appeal. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333. Without prejudice the error is not manifest. *Id.*

An alleged error regarding a defendant's exercise of his or her right to remain silent, as guaranteed by the United States and Washington Constitutions, is a constitutional error.⁵ Therefore, the only inquiry here is whether the alleged error was manifest. *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 98. An error is manifest if a defendant can show actual prejudice. *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). Actual prejudice requires a defendant to make a "plausible showing... that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." *O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d at 99 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Roman has not satisfied this requirement.

Any comment in regards to Roman's exercise of his right to silence was brief. RP 73-75. There was no objection to any of the questions or the testimony of Officer Makein. RP 73-75. The deputy prosecutor made no reference to Roman's exercise of his right to silence during the deputy prosecutor's closing argument. RP 261-78, 286-91. There was zero argument made on behalf of the State that Roman's silence inferred he was guilty of Assault in the Second Degree or that Roman had something to hide. RP 261-78, 286-91.

-

⁵ The State is not agreeing that there was an error, or that the State improperly elicited testimony regarding Roman's exercise of his right to silence. The State will fully argue below, in subsection 3, the analysis regarding commenting on a defendant's exercise of his or her right to silence.

The overwhelming evidence in this case proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Roman had committed the crime of Assault in the Second Degree by means of strangling his wife. Angela could not remember the act of being strangled but could recall that she had to get up from the ground a second time and that time she was seeing stars and felt as if she was going to black out. RP 127, 135, 141-42. Angela did recall that she could not turn her neck, it hurt to swallow or make any sort of motion with her neck. RP 135-36. Angela did not have these injuries prior to the incident with Roman. RP 137-38.

Angela told Officer Makein that Roman had come up behind her and put his arm around her neck and squeezed hard enough that she saw stars and had trouble breathing. RP 85. As Officer Makein spoke to Angela she started to complain about her throat hurting and she coughed more and more throughout the conversation. RP 84.

Angela told Mr. Biodeau that her husband had assaulted her. RP 39. Angela also told Mr. Biodeau that Roman had thrown her to the ground and choked her. RP 39. Mr. Biodeau testified that Angela had swelling in her neck and a thyroid cartilage fracture, all

which was consistent with Angela's version of what had occurred. RP 45-46.

While Roman denied choking, punching, kicking or kneeing Angela, the physical evidence presented would suggest otherwise. RP 40-50, 221. Roman's testimony minimized what had happened and painted Angela as the aggressor. See RP 172-221. The role of the reviewing court does not include substituting its judgment for the jury's by reweighing the credibility or importance of the evidence. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The determination of the credibility of a witness or evidence is solely within the scope of the jury and not subject to review. State v. Myers, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), citing State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). The jury obviously did not find Roman's version of events credible and, considering the evidence presented in this case, it is clear why the jury would make such a determination.

The overwhelming evidence proved Roman was guilty of Assault in the Second Degree by means of strangulation. Roman cannot show he was prejudiced by any alleged error the State may have committed when it allegedly commented on Roman's exercise

of his right to silence. This Court should not consider this claimed error for the first time on appeal.

3. If This Court Permits Roman To Raise The Alleged Error Regarding Improper Eliciting Of Testimony Regarding Roman's Right To Silence, Any Comment On Roman's Right To Silence Was Harmless Beyond A Reasonable Doubt.

Roman argues that the deputy prosecutor repeatedly elicited testimony from Officer Makein regarding his exercise of his right to silence. Brief of Appellant 13-17. Roman asserts that this occurred on three separate occasions during Officer Makein's testimony. Brief of Appellant 14-15. Yet, Roman does not acknowledge that the deputy prosecutor was asking open ended questions not formulated to elicit a direct response regarding Roman's right to silence. Brief of Appellant 13-17; See RP 73-75. Roman also does not acknowledge that the deputy prosecutor does not even reference Roman's silence during his closing argument. Brief of Appellant 13-17; See RP 261-78, 286-91. Even if Officer Makein's statements are considered a direct comment on Roman's right to remain silent, any error would be harmless.

A person cannot be compelled in a criminal case to provide evidence against him or herself. U.S. Const. amend. X; Const. art. I, § 9. A person who invokes his or her right to silence may not

have that silence used as substantive evidence of guilt in a criminal trial. *State v. Sloan*, 133 Wn. App. 120, 127, 134 P.3d 1217 (2006), *citing State v. Easter*, 130 Wn.2d 228, 238, 992 P.2d 1285 (1996) (additional citations omitted). It is a violation of a defendant's due process rights for the State to exploit or comment on the defendant's choice to exercise his or her right to remain silent. *State v. Romero*, 114 Wn. App. 779, 786-87, 54 P.3d 1255 (2002), *citing Doyle v. Ohio*, 426 U.S. 610, 619, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 49 L.Ed.2d 91 (1976), *State v. Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d 391, 395–96, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979). The State, therefore, "cannot elicit comments from a witness that are related to a defendant's silence or make such comments during closing arguments in order to infer guilt. *Sloan*, 133 Wn. App. at 127 (citations omitted).

When the defendant's exercise of his or her right to remain silent is raised, the reviewing Court "must consider whether the prosecutor manifestly intended the remarks to be a comment on [the right to remain silent]." *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 216, 181 P.3d 204 (2008) (internal quotations and citations omitted). A mere reference to a defendant's silence does not amount to a comment on his or her right to silence. *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d at 216.

A comment on a defendant's right to silence can be harmless error. State v. Pottorff, 138 Wn. App. 343, 346-48, 156 P.3d 955 (2007). In Pottorff the court differentiated the review standards of the harmless error analysis based upon what type of comment was made by the State. Pottorff, 138 Wn. App. at 347. The court explained that the prejudice incurred as the result of a direct comment about a person's right to remain silent would require the State to show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. "A direct comment occurs when a witness or state agent makes a reference to the defendant's invocation of his or her right to remain silent." Id. at 346.6 A constitutional error is deemed harmless if the reviewing court is certain beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict is unattributable to the error. State v. Anderson, 171 Wn.2d 764, 770, 254 P.3d 815 (2011). The Supreme Court has held, "[t]his court employs the overwhelming untainted evidence test and looks to the untainted evidence to determine if it so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." Anderson, 171 Wn. 2d at 770.

.

⁶ The court gave the following as examples of direct comment on the evidence: An officer testifying that he read a defendant his *Miranda* warnings and the defendant chose not to waive his right to remain silent and would not speak to the officer. An officer testifies that a defendant would not speak to the officer and requested an attorney. *See Pottorff*, 138 Wn. App. at 347. (referring to *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

Whereas, the prejudice incurred when the State makes an indirect comment on a person's right to silence is reviewed under the lower standard, which determines whether no reasonable probability exists that error affected the outcome. *Pottorff*, 138 Wn. App. at 347. The State makes an indirect comment on the a person's right to silence when it, through a witness or the deputy prosecutor, references an action or comment made by the defendant which could be inferred as an attempt by the defendant to exercise his or her right to silence. *Id.*, *citing State v. Lewis*, 130 Wn.2d 700, 706, 927, P.2d 235 (1996).

Roman takes issues with the following exchange, characterizing it as the deputy prosecutor repeatedly eliciting testimony regarding Roman's exercise of his right to remain silent:

Q: Now, you didn't have him do any of those [field sobriety tests], did you?

A: Once he was - - I advised him he's under arrest for domestic violence assault, I read him Miranda. He clammed up, said I want my attorney. I don't want to talk to you, so for me once he says anything like that after Miranda I don't ask him anything else.

Q: Describe for me when you first made contact with him how is his demeanor?

⁷ "[O]fficer did not testify the defendant refused to talk, but rather that the defendant claimed he was innocent ...[O]fficer's testimony that the defendant would take polygraph test after discussing the matter with his attorney was an indirect reference to silence."

A: I would have to say defiant, probably the best word because after he made the statement, are you profiling me because I'm a guy? I tried to explain to him, no. I'm just making sure everybody is safe, but for him once he made that statement it was clear he wasn't going to cooperate. He wasn't going to really assist with the investigation or provide information that we need. His demeanor was basically I was pissing him off, because I determined it was a crime that occurred against his wife and put him in custody.

. . .

Q: After the defendant is taken into custody, what did you do?

A: Of course pat him down for weapons, put him in the backseat of my car, read him his Miranda. He doesn't want to talk, so I left him in the car continued my investigation to make sure that the victim gets medical treatment, have her evaluated and that's what I did.

RP 73-75. None of the deputy prosecutor's questions were formulated to require Officer Makein to testify regarding Roman's exercise of his right to silence. RP 73-75. Therefore it is a complete mischaracterization of the deputy prosecutor's questioning for Roman to state the deputy prosecutor repeatedly elicited testimony regarding Roman's exercise of his right to silence.

In *State v. Keene*, this Court held that the deputy prosecutor and the detective who testified impermissibly commented on Keene's right to silence. *State v. Keene*, 86 Wn. App. 589, 594, 938

P.2d 839 (1997). The detective "testified that she never heard from Keene after she warned him that she would turn the case over to the prosecuting attorney if she did not hear from him again." *Keene*, 86 Wn. App. at 594. The deputy prosecutor used Keene's failure to contact the detective as substantive evidence to infer guilt by telling the jury "it could decide if Keene's failure to contact the detective was the act of an innocent man." *Id.*

In contrast, nothing in Officer Makein's testimony is presented as substantive evidence of Roman's guilt for the crime of Assault in the Second Degree. Further, the deputy prosecutor does not attempt to use the testimony of Officer Makein to infer Roman is guilty. *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d at 216; RP 261-78, 286-91. The testimony (and lack of argument) does not amount to a comment on Roman's right to silence.

If this Court were to find that Officer Makein's testimony was a direct comment on Roman's exercise of his right to silence, any such comment is harmless. *See Pottorff*, 138 Wn. App. at 346-48. The verdict was unattributed to the brief testimony offered by Officer Makein stating that Roman had invoked his right to silence. As outlined above, there was overwhelming evidence that Roman committed the crime of Assault in the Second Degree by means of

strangling Angela. There was no argument from the deputy prosecutor that Roman's silence inferred that he had in fact strangled Angela. RP 261-78, 286-91. This Court should find that the resulting prejudice from the comment was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and affirm Roman's conviction.

C. ROMAN RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE FROM HIS ATTORNEY THROUGHOUT THE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS.

Roman's attorney provided competent and effective legal counsel throughout the course of his representation. Roman asserts his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to Officer Makein's comment on Roman's post-*Miranda* silence. Brief of Appellant 17-19.

Roman's assertion that his attorney was ineffective is false.

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